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The Ch urch of Our Lady of Perpetual Help rests atop Pond Creek Mountain overlooking 
the A.rkans as River Valley. This quiet hilltop in western Arkansas is an appro­
priate setting for one of the state's most interesting and unusual church~s. 

Reminiscent of Romanesque architecture, this basilica style church is built of 
hard white sandstone cut from a nearby quarry. These s t ones are rock-faced with 
margins and are cut in various rectangular sizes and set in a broken course. 
The two-foot-thick walls enclose an area measuring 117 feet by 56 feet. 

The nave rises a full storey above the one-storey aisles. A gable roof of galva­
nized steel shingles covers the nave with a shed roof over each aisle. Enclosing 
the apse on the east elevation is a semi-decagon bay with a conical roof. At the 
southeast corner of the building a 120-foot bell tower rises a full storey above 
the nave. 

The wide center facade rises one storey above the flanking bays. Three semi-ellip­
tical- arched openings on the projecting center bay give access to the small en­
closed porch. The center arch leads directly to the main double door entry to the 
church. Above the wide stringcourse at the second-storey line, three semi-circular 
arched windows are set Palladian-style into a wide half-circle arch. The pediment 
features a round window and a cross above the ridge line. 

All the windows around the church are of stained glass set in semi-circular 
Like the three entry arche~ the windows set in stone have small keystones. 
ten windows of the tile-sided nave walls are set in simple wooden frames. 

arches. 
The 

The four-storey bell tower has a separate arched entry on the south elevation. 
Stringcoursing separates the window openings on each storey of the square tower. 
Slende r paired windows on the second storey, round windows on the third storey and 
triple vented-arches on the fourth storey are interesting features on the tower. 
On the fourth floor are four melodic bells, together weighing more than three tons. 

The interior of St. Mary's Church makes it one of the most beautiful buildings in 
Arkansas. Corinthian capitaled columns support the arcades which separate the 
nave from the aisles. Pressed tin in a fleur-de-lis pattern covers the walls of 
the upper nave, while the ceilings have a clover-like pattern. 

Each of the stained glass windows depicts a Biblical character or event and bears 
a dedicatory script in German . Twelve small murals, each measuring 3~ by 5 feet, 
decorate the white plastered walls. Illustrating scenes from the life of Christ, 
these small murals were painted b y. a German artist, Fridolin Fuchs, during 1915 
and 1916. The German captions painted by Fuchs were r eplaced with English inscrip­
tions in ~964. Fuchs also painted figures in the extrados above the high altar 
and large murals set into the arches at the front of each aisle. The domed ceiling 
above the apse was hand stenciled by Fuchs. 

Original to the church is a communion railing of cherry and walnut. Hand-carved 
by a local parishoner, this r a iling is made from trees grown i~ the area. Side 

-----~~ 
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altars, added in 1918, contain ten different kinds of wood. Another later addition 
came in 1924 when a pipe organ was installed. 

Over the years minor repairs have been made to keep St. Mary's Church in its e x ­
cellent condition. Though changes in the form of artwork and furnishings have 
been made, there have been no significant alterations to the structure. Resting 
on i ts original site, St. Mary's Church represents an unusual architectural style 
in Arkansas. 
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One of Arkansas' most architecturally significant churches is the Church of Our Lady 
of Perpetual Help near Altus, Arkansas. This impressive edifice was constructed atop 
Pond Creek Mountain overlooking the Arkansas River Valley. Completed in 1902, the 
church was built to serve the G(rman- and Swiss-Catholics who immigrated to Franklin 
County in the late nineteenth century. 

The records of the congregation begin with the arrival of the first priest in 1879. 
The Reve~end Father Beatus Maria Ziswyler was sent b~ the Little Rock Diocese to 
serve the Catholic congregation at Altus. During the first year services were held 
in the upstairs room of Father Ziswyler's two-storey log cabin, but by 1881 a frame 
church had been constructed. Father Ziswyler's cabin, the frame church and the later 
stone church were all built near the same site on a forty-acre tract donated by the 
Little Rock and Fort Smith Railroad. 

The congre gation of Our Lady of Perpetual Help, also known as St. Mary's, grew 
rapidly. By 1888 the parish had forty-five families and operated two missions of 
its own. Further immigration of German and Swiss families combined with the rapid 
growth of coal mining in Franklin County to cause a relatively rapid population 
increase in the 1890's. 

This population increase brought a corresponding need for a larger church. On 
January 28, 1900, the congregation of St. Mary's Church voted to erect a new church 
building. Architectural plans were partially drawn by a priest in St. Louis; and, 
though never quite completed, were used to build the church. The actual construction 
was supervis ed by Father Placidus Oeschsle, the local parish priest, and John Riedt, 
a stone mason f rom St. Louis. 

In February, 1901, the conerstone of St. Mary's Church was laid. Into the 25" x 18" 
x 27" cornerstone was set a copper box containing documents, contemporary newspapers 
and a few coins. On September 2, 1902, the church was completed, and dedicatory 
ceremonies, presided over by the Abbot of the nearby Subiaco Academy, were held. 

Designed to seat 500 persons, StMary's Church was built in a basilica style. The 
choice of this particular style was due in part to the fact that much of the labor 
on the new church was performed by local parishoners. According to Father Oeschsle, 
"Our workmen could easily erect such simple construction, and this was one of the 
important features that guided us." * 
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St. Mary's Church is constructed of hard white sandstone cut from a nearby quarry. 

The basilica style church has the typical features of a center n ave rising above 
the aisle, transcept and projecting altar area. A somewhat unusual feature is 
the 120-foot bell tower rising from the southeast corner of the church. Original 
interior features include the numerous stained glass windows, pressed tin ceiling 
and a communion railing carved from cherry and walnut trees grown o n Pond Creek 
Mountain. 

The most significant interior features of the church are the murals painted by 
Fridolin Fuchs, a German artist employed by Father Oeschsle. From January, 1915, 

..- until April, 1916, Fuchs painted on the white plaster twelve "stations," small 
murals measuring 3~ feet by 5 feet. Reminiscent of European church murals, these 
paintings depict various scenes from the life of Christ. Each station was in­
scribed with a German text, as were the written dedications in each of the stained 
glass windows. Fuchs, who was paid $600.00 plus room and board, p~inted the 
faces of several individuals involved in St. Mary's Church into his murals. His own 
likeness and that of Father Oeschsle, who assisted him, appear in the stations on 
either side of the high altar. Fuchs also stenciled and painted holy figures on 
the domed ceiling above the altar. 
Other unusual features of the church include the massive bells and the pipe organ. 
On Thanksgiving Day, 1902, four bells, the largest weighing 2,712 pounds, were 
installed in the top of the four -storey bell tower. These melodic bells added 
further to the European flavor of the church. In 1924 a pipe organ, still oper­
able ~ith a hand-pumped bellows, was installed in the organ loft at the rear of 
the church. 

Built by German and Swiss immigrants, the Church of Our Lady of Perpetual Help 
was a tangible symbol of the congre gation's origins. Religion played a most 
important part in the lives of these Catholic immigrants, and the church at 
Altus, reminiscent of old parish churche s i n Germany and Switzerland, was in part 
a recreation of the society they had left behind. St. Mary's murals, painted 
by the German artist Fuchs, give the church an artistic flavor unique in Arkansas. 

Significant because of its architecture , artwork and relationship with the German ­
Swiss immigrants in Franklin County, St. Mary's is one of the most important 
church buildings in Arkansas. 

* Ernie Deane, "A Church That Stands High on a Hill," Arkansas Gazette, 
Dec ember 30, 1962. 
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Oeschsle, Placidus. "Historical Sketch of the Congregation of Our Lady of Per­
petual Help at Altus, _Ar~ansas. Privately printed, 1930. Archives, 
Arkansas History Commission. 
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FIRST STATE CAPITOL • 300 WEST MARKHAM • LITTLE ROCK. ARKANSAS 72201 

December 24, 1975 

Dr. William Murtagh 
Keeper of the National Register 
National Park Service ~ National Register 
Department of the Interior 
Washington, D. C. 20240 

Dear Dr. Murtagh:. 

Attached are National Register nominations for the following properties; 

Modern News Building 
St. Joseph's Home 
Stitt-Patterson House 
John Tilley House 
Vinson House 
Hiederkehr Wine Cellar 
O'Neel-Blackburn House 
Oakland Farm 
Palmer House 
Russey-Murray House 
Short-Dodson House 
Simon Sager Cabin 
St. Mark's Episcopal Church 
Elizabeth Lodge 215 F&AM 
Alexander Ge.orge House 
Gazette Building 
Church of Our Lady of Perpetual Help 

K. G, McRae House 
First Presbyterian Church 
Ebenezer Camp Grourid 
Dearing House 
Joseph Starr Dunham House 
Dunn House 
Cleveland County Clerk's Building 
Mouth of Calf Creek · 
Blakely House 
Main Building, Arkansas Baptist College 
Aycock House 
Alexander House 
Bob Burns House 
Adam Boyd House 
Baytown Site (3M01) 
Old State House Square Historic District 

These nominations have been approved by majority of the State Review 
Committee, 

It is especially important that the Old State House Square Historic 
District nomination be considered as soon as possible, since one of 
the significant buildings within the district is scheduled for demolition 
at the hands of the Urban Renewal within a few weeks, We hope to be 
able to effect alteration of these plans so as to save the building, 
and the inclusion of the building in the National Register is critical 
to this aim. 

Sincerely, 

K~~~ 
Anne Bartley . 
State Historic Preservation Officer 

AB:cm 
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Hot Springs 
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!:\.:nts Lil; ':orie f'rP.t~ervation Officer 
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.~.c: ~ir..~.~ ~'ir~:,~ tor 
Th:.:p:J;: t !:'" .. .:H t ,,f .iJ~tural and Culture 
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300 l-lest. Markhnm 
Little Rock, Ark&uau 72201 

INT: 2 9 5 0 -75 



The Reverend Robert H. Peacock 
Pirst Assembly of God 
20th and Lyon Streetl 
P.O. ~.2758 
~m t~~.;1,,10l 
Dear .~r. PeaeocJa . . 
Thank you for jour letter Of JanUary 27, 1981; exprellh\1 your thoughts on the 
inclusion of religious properties In the atlonal eglster of Historic Plaaa. We 
apologize for not responding sooner. 

Trinity Lutheran Church, Conway·County. / • 
Mount Ollve United Methodist Church, t;rawford County. . 

7 
Selma Methodist Church, Drew County. 7 

, Our Ladt ot Perpetual Help Church. Pranklln County. . " . · 
_ · Old Bethel Methodist. Church, Green County. ~ _-

Enclosed are copies ot the "Federal Register", which llst..all properties entered lD 
the National egister prior to Deeember 1980 and fntormatlon on the l-TatJonal 
Register program. 

Once again we appreefate your taking the Ume to share your thoughts with us. It 
we can be of further assistance to you, please let us know. 

Enclosures 

Sineerely. 

Carol D. Shuii TSgci. T 

Carol D. Shull 
Chfet of Registration 
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